Deborah E. Bouchoux

A PRACTICAL INTRODUCTION TO PARALEGAL STUDIES

Strategies for Success

THIRD EDITION

Deborah E. Bouchoux

Bridging the gap between the classroom and the real world, *A Practical Introduction to Paralegal Studies* offers a thorough exploration of the entire paralegal profession. In a logical three-part organization, experienced author Deborah Bouchoux covers the fundamentals of the paralegal profession and the American legal system, along with the paralegal skills essential for success in the workplace. This engaging and well-written text provides the pragmatic and realistic information students need to hit the ground running.

A Practical Introduction to Paralegal Studies features:

- Topical coverage that closely adheres to the nature of paralegal work.
- Pedagogy that enhances learning, such as chapter overviews, key terms, marginal definitions, website references, case illustrations, practice tips, and chapter summaries.
- Research exercises and Internet-based exercises in each chapter that mirror those performed by the working
- Charts, graphs, sample forms, and other aids for comprehension.

A thoughtful and thorough revision, the Third Edition includes:

- All new Case Illustrations, Discussion Questions, and Internet Closing Arguments.
- New forms provided throughout the text.
- Up-to-date information on trends in regulation of the paralegal profession.
- Timely coverage of ethics, including new trends such as alternative business structures, and cutting-edge developments such as nonlawyer ownership of law firms, litigation financing, use of social media, and whether Internet-accessible advice and forms constitute the unauthorized practice of law.
- New developments in computer-assisted legal research.
- Significantly expanded section on e-discovery in Chapter 8, including a sample privilege log.
- New section in Chapter 11 on current disruptions to legal services, including alternative legal service providers and other trends.
- New tips and approaches to getting a job, setting "SMART" goals, handling tricky interview questions, and future-proofing your career.

10051627-0002





A Practical Introduction TO PARALEGAL STUDIES

Strategies for Success



THIRD **EDITION**

STUDIES





www.AspenPublishing.com

 \triangleright PRACTICAL INTRODUCTION

Strategies for Success TOPARALEGAL

A PRACTICAL INTRODUCTION TO PARALEGAL STUDIES

A PRACTICAL INTRODUCTION TO PARALEGAL STUDIES

STRATEGIES FOR SUCCESS

Third Edition

DEBORAH E. BOUCHOUX

Georgetown University Member, District of Columbia (active) and California (inactive) Bars



Copyright © 2021 Aspen Publishing. All Rights Reserved.

No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopy, recording, or utilized by any information storage or retrieval system, without written permission from the publisher. For information about permissions or to request permissions online, visit us at www.AspenPublishing.com.

Cover image: MIND AND I - stock.adobe.com

To contact Customer Service, e-mail customer.service@aspenpublishing.com, call 1-800-950-5259, or mail correspondence to:

Aspen Publishing Attn: Order Department PO Box 990 Frederick, MD 21705

Printed in the United States of America.

1234567890

ISBN 978-1-5438-1561-0

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Names: Bouchoux, Deborah E., 1950- author. | Bouchoux, Deborah E., 1950- Practical paralegal.

Title: A practical introduction to paralegal studies: strategies for success / Deborah E. Bouchoux, Georgetown University, Member, District of Columbia (active) and California (inactive) Bars.

Description: Third edition. | Frederick, MD: Aspen Publishing, [2021] | Includes bibliographical references and index. | Summary: "Introductory book for intro to paralegal studies courses"—Provided by publisher.

Identifiers: LCCN 2020022303 (print) | LCCN 2020022304 (ebook) | ISBN 9781543815610 (paperback) | ISBN 9781543823172 (ebook)

Subjects: LCSH: Legal assistants—United States. | Legal assistants—Vocational guidance—United States.

Classification: LCC KF320.L4 B68 2021 (print) | LCC KF320.L4 (ebook) | DDC 340.023/73—dc23

LC record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2020022303

LC ebook record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2020022304

About Aspen Publishing

Aspen Publishing is a leading provider of educational content and digital learning solutions to law schools in the U.S. and around the world. Aspen provides best-in-class solutions for legal education through authoritative textbooks, written by renowned authors, and breakthrough products such as Connected eBooks, Connected Quizzing, and PracticePerfect.

The Aspen Casebook Series (famously known among law faculty and students as the "red and black" casebooks) encompasses hundreds of highly regarded textbooks in more than eighty disciplines, from large enrollment courses, such as Torts and Contracts to emerging electives such as Sustainability and the Law of Policing. Study aids such as the *Examples & Explanations* and the *Emanuel Law Outlines* series, both highly popular collections, help law students master complex subject matter.

Major products, programs, and initiatives include:

- Connected eBooks are enhanced digital textbooks and study aids that come with a suite of online content and learning tools designed to maximize student success. Designed in collaboration with hundreds of faculty and students, the Connected eBook is a significant leap forward in the legal education learning tools available to students.
- Connected Quizzing is an easy-to-use formative assessment tool that tests law students'
 understanding and provides timely feedback to improve learning outcomes. Delivered
 through CasebookConnect.com, the learning platform already used by students to access
 their Aspen casebooks, Connected Quizzing is simple to implement and integrates
 seamlessly with law school course curricula.
- PracticePerfect is a visually engaging, interactive study aid to explain commonly
 encountered legal doctrines through easy-to-understand animated videos, illustrative examples, and numerous practice questions. Developed by a team of experts,
 PracticePerfect is the ideal study companion for today's law students.
- The **Aspen Learning Library** enables law schools to provide their students with access to the most popular study aids on the market across all of their courses. Available through an annual subscription, the online library consists of study aids in e-book, audio, and video formats with full text search, note-taking, and highlighting capabilities.
- Aspen's **Digital Bookshelf** is an institutional-level online education bookshelf, consolidating everything students and professors need to ensure success. This program ensures that every student has access to affordable course materials from day one.
- **Leading Edge** is a community centered on thinking differently about legal education and putting those thoughts into actionable strategies. At the core of the program is the Leading Edge Conference, an annual gathering of legal education thought leaders looking to pool ideas and identify promising directions of exploration.

TO MY BROTHERS AND SISTER, FOR THEIR LOVE AND SUPPORT. THANK YOU TO JIM, MICHAEL, MARY KAY, AND RICK.

SUMMARY OF CONTENTS

Contents xi List of Figures xix Preface xxi Acknowledgments xxv

PART I: FUNDAMENTALS FOR SUCCESS IN THE PARALEGAL PROFESSION AND THE AMERICAN LEGAL SYSTEM 1

Chapter 1 Student Survival Guide: Learning to Learn 3

Chapter 2 The Paralegal Profession 25

Chapter 3 Ethics and Professional Responsibility 57

Chapter 4 The American Legal System 95

PART II: PARALEGAL SKILLS 123

Chapter 5 Legal Research and Analysis 125

Chapter 6 Legal Writing and Communications 179

Chapter 7 Interviewing and Investigating 205

PART III: PARALEGALS IN THE WORKPLACE 237

Chapter 8 Civil Litigation 239

Chapter 9 Paralegal Practice Specialties: What Paralegals Do 269

Chapter 10 Career Strategies: Getting a Job, Keeping a Job, and Quitting a Job 309

Chapter 11 The Law Office Environment 355

Chapter 12 Putting It Together: Strategies for Success in the Workplace 391

X Summary of Contents

Appendices

Appendix A: Paralegal Associations and Bar Associations 413

Appendix B: NALA Code of Ethics and Professional Responsibility 417

Appendix C: NALA Model Standards and Guidelines for Utilization of Paralegals 419

Appendix D: NFPA Model Code of Ethics and Professional Responsibility and Guidelines

for Enforcement 423

Appendix E: Citation Form 431

Appendix F: Writing Basics: Grammar, Punctuation, and Spelling 439

Glossary 451 Index 465

CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES xix PREFACE xxi ACKNOWLEDGMENTS xxv

PART I: FUNDAMENTALS FOR SUCCESS IN THE PARALEGAL PROFESSION AND THE AMERICAN LEGAL SYSTEM

CHAPTER 1: STUDENT SURVIV	AL
GUIDE: LEARNING TO LEARN	3

Chapter Overview 3

- A. Success as a Student 3
- B. Reading the Material 4
 - 1. Read to Remember 4
 - 2. The SQ3R Method of Reading 5
 - 3. Techniques to Remember the Material 5
- C. Classroom Activities to Enhance Learning 7
 - 1. Preliminary Guidelines 7
 - 2. Active Listening 7
 - 3. Note Taking 8
 - a. General Comments 8
 - b. The Cornell Note-Taking System 10
 - c. Preparing Review Outlines 12
 - 4. Your Classroom Network and Study Groups 13
- D. Examinations and Class Projects 14
 - 1. Introduction 14
 - 2. Strategies to Prepare for Examinations 14
 - 3. Taking the Examination 16

- 4. After the Examination 18
- 5. Managing Test Anxiety 18
- 6. Class Projects 20

Net Results 20

Case Illustration—Attorney Responsibility for Paralegal

Work 21

Key Terms 21

Chapter Summary 21

Trivia 22

Discussion Questions 22

Closing Arguments 23

CHAPTER 2: THE PARALEGAL PROFESSION 25

Chapter Overview 25

- A. Definitions and Titles 26
- B. History of the Paralegal Profession 28
- C. Paralegal Education 29
 - 1. Types of Paralegal Programs 29
 - 2. The Role of the ABA in Paralegal Education 31

xii Contents

a. NALA's Code of Ethics and Professional

Responsibility 59

 The Role of the American Association for Paralegal Education 32 	b. NFPA's Model Code of Ethics and Professional Responsibility 60
D. Paralegal Associations 32	c. Other Paralegal Association Codes 60
1. National Association of Legal Assistants 32	C. Ethical Responsibilities 60
2. National Federation of Paralegal Associations 33	1. Duty of Competence 60
3. Other Paralegal Associations 34	2. Duty of Integrity 63
4. Summary of Paralegal Associations 35	3. Duty of Confidentiality 63
E. Regulation of Paralegals 35	4. Duty to Avoid Conflicts of Interest 66
1. Introduction 35	a. Duties to Current Clients 66
2. General Approaches to Paralegal Regulation 36	b. Duties to Former Clients 67
3. California Regulation 36	c. Other Conflict Situations 67
4. Registration 37	d. Scope of Conflict and Career Mobility 68
5. Certification 39	e. Determining the Existence of
6. Licensing 40	Conflicts: Conflict Checks 69
7. Regulation Through Limited Licensing 40	5. Communication with Adverse Parties 72
8. Alternative Legal Models 42	6. Duties with Regard to Financial Matters 72
9. The Access-to-Justice Gap 42	7. Duties with Regard to Solicitation and
10. Closing Comments on Regulation of the	Communications 74
Paralegal Profession 43	8. With Friends Like These: The Use of Social
	Media by Legal Professionals 76
F. Where Paralegals Work 44	a. Introduction 76
G. Paralegal Duties 46	b. Blogs 76
	c. Social Media 76
H. Paralegal Compensation 47	d. Virtual Law Offices 77
1. Annual Compensation for Paralegals 48	e. Disclaimers 77
2. Overtime Compensation and Benefits 48	f. Conclusions 78
I. The Future of the Paralegal Profession 49	Duty to Avoid the Unauthorized Practice of Law 78
Net Results 51	a. Introduction 78
Case Illustration—Recovery of Paralegal Fees 52	b. Giving Legal Advice 79
Key Terms 52	c. Representing Clients in Court and Before
Chapter Summary 53	Agencies 80
Trivia 54	d. Permissible Activities 80
Discussion Questions 54	e. Prohibited Activities 81
Closing Arguments 55	f. Avoiding UPL 81
Closing Highmenis 33	g. New Developments in UPL: Self-Help
	Materials, Document Automation, and
CHAPTER 3: ETHICS AND	Offshoring of Legal Services 82
PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY 57	h. Freelance and Independent Paralegals 83
	10. Duty to Report Misconduct 84
Chapter Overview 57	a. Reporting by Attorneys 84
A. Introduction to Ethical Standards for	b. Reporting by Paralegals 84
Paralegals 58	c. What to Do If You Observe Misconduct 85
	d. Consequences of Violations of Ethical
B. Codes of Ethics and Guidelines for Attorneys	Duties 85
and Paralegals 58	11. Trends in Law and Ethics 86
1. Ethical Rules for Attorneys 58	
2. Ethical Rules for Paralegals 59	Net Results 88

Case Illustration—Attorney Disqualification Due to Failure to

Screen Paralegal 88

Contents

Key Terms 89	
Chapter Summary	89
Trivia 91	
Discussion Questions	91
Closing Arguments	92

CHAPTER 4: THE AMERICAN LEGAL SYSTEM 95

Chapter Overview 95

- A. Introduction to the American Common Law Tradition 95
- B. Sources of Law 96
 - 1. Judicial Opinions 96
 - 2. Constitutions 97
 - 3. Statutes 97
 - 4. Administrative Regulations 97
 - 5. Executive Branch 98
- C. Jurisdiction and Venue 98
 - 1. Introduction 98
 - 2. Subject Matter Jurisdiction 99
 - 3. Types of Jurisdiction Exercised by Courts 100
 - 4. Personal Jurisdiction 100
 - 5. In Rem Jurisdiction 101
 - 6. Venue 101

D. Types of Law 102

- 1. Introduction 102
- 2. Criminal and Civil Law 102
- 3. Substantive and Procedural Law 103

E. Trial and Appellate Courts 104

F. Federal Courts 105

- 1. Introduction 105
- 2. Ground Rules for Cases 105
- 3. United States District Courts 106
- 4. United States Courts of Appeals 108
- 5. The United States Supreme Court 109
- 6. Specialized Courts 113

G. State Courts 114

H. Remedies 115

- 1. Courts of Equity and Courts of Law 115
- 2. Legal Remedies 116
- 3. Equitable Remedies 116

Net Results 117

Case Illustration—Determining the Jurisdictional Amount in

Diversity Cases 117

Key Terms 118

Chapter Summary 118

Trivia 120

Discussion Questions 120

Closing Arguments 121

PART II: PARALEGAL SKILLS

CHAPTER 5: LEGAL RESEARCH AND ANALYSIS 125

Chapter Overview 125

A. Primary and Secondary Authorities 126

- 1. Introduction 126
- Using the Descriptive Word Approach to Conduct Legal Research 126

B. Finding the Law Using Primary Authorities 127

- 1. Federal Statutes 127
 - a. United States Statutes at Large 127
 - b. United States Code 128
 - c. Annotated Versions of the *United States*Code 128
 - (1) United States Code Annotated and United States Code Service 130

- (2) Pocket Parts 130
- d. Research Techniques 130
- 2. State Statutes 132
- United States Constitution and State Constitutions 133
- 4. Administrative Regulations 133
- 5. Case Law 134
 - a. Official and Unofficial Publication of Cases 134
 - b. Elements of a Case 135
 - c. Publication of State Cases 140
 - d. Publication of Federal Cases 141
 - (1) United States Supreme Court Cases 141
 - (2) Lower Federal Court Cases 141
 - e. Finding Cases Through the Use of Digests 141
 - (1) Introduction 141
 - (2) Organization of West's American Digest System 142

xiv Contents

 (3) How to Find Cases Using Digests 142 (4) Specialized Digests 143 C. Finding the Law Using Secondary Authorities 146 1. Encyclopedias 146 2. Legal Periodicals 147 3. Texts and Treatises 148 4. Restatements 148 5. A.L.R. Annotations 149 6. Miscellaneous Secondary Authorities 149 	Net Results 170 Case Illustration — Duty to Conduct Adequate Legal Research 171 Key Terms 171 Chapter Summary 172 Trivia 174 Discussion Questions 174 Case Brief Assignment 174 Research Questions 174 Closing Arguments 177
D. Research Strategies 150	
E. Citation Form 153 1. Introduction 153 2. Citation Systems 154	CHAPTER 6: LEGAL WRITING AND COMMUNICATIONS 179
F. Validating Your Research 154 1. Introduction 154	Chapter Overview 179 A. Characteristics of Effective Legal Writing 180
 2. Electronic Validation 155 3. Validating Other Authorities 156 	 Introduction and the Plain English Movement 180 Accuracy 180
 G. Computer-Assisted Legal Research 156 Introduction 156 Getting Started Using Lexis or Westlaw 157 Boolean Searching 157 Plain English Searching 158 New Developments in Computer-Assisted Legal Research 158 Other Competitors in Computer-Assisted Legal Research 159 Summary of Computer-Assisted Legal Research 160 	 3. Clarity 182 4. Readability 182 5. Conciseness 184 B. Types of Legal Writing 186 1. Correspondence 186 a. General Correspondence 186 b. Demand Letters 186 c. Opinion Letters 186 d. Electronic Communications 189 (1) Communicating by Email 189 (2) Communicating by Facsimile and
 H. Using the Internet for Legal Research 160 1. Introduction 160 2. Using a Good Start Page 161 3. Internet Legal Research Strategies 162 	Electronic Transmissions 190 (3) Communicating by Telephone and Voice Mail 190 (4) Communicating by Text Messaging 191
4. Using the Internet to Impress Clients 1635. Providing Free Public Access to American Case Law 164	 Legal Memoranda 191 Legal Briefs 193 Pleadings 193 Transactional Documents 194
 Analyzing the Law 164 Analyzing Statutes and Regulations 164 Canons of Construction and Statutory Interpretation 165 Analyzing Cases 165 	 C. Prewriting Steps and Getting Started 194 D. Finishing on Time and Postwriting Steps 195 1. Finishing on Time 195 2. Proofreading and Reviewing 195
 a. Introduction 165 b. Techniques for Legal Analysis: Analogizing, Distinguishing, and Synthesizing 166 c. The "IRAC" Method of Analyzing 	3. Document Design 198E. Common Errors in Legal Writing 198
Authorities 167 J. Briefing Cases 167	Net Results 200 Case Illustration— The Importance of Clear Writing in Court Documents 200

Contents

Key Terms 200 Chapter Summary 201 Trivia 202 Discussion Questions 202 Closing Arguments 203

CHAPTER 7: INTERVIEWING AND INVESTIGATING 205

Chapter Overview 205

A. Interviewing 205

- 1. Introduction 205
- 2. Initial Client Interviews 206
 - a. Prospective Clients 206
 - b. Post-Engagement Client Interviews 207
- 3. Conducting Interviews 208
 - a. Preparing for Interviews 208
 - b. Conducting a Thorough Interview 210
 - c. Being Flexible 211
 - d. Cultivating Listening Skills 212
 - e. Ending the Interview 213
 - f. Conducting Witness Interviews 213
 - (1) Introduction 213
 - (2) Witness Interview Techniques 214
 - (3) Witness Statements 215

B. Investigating 215

- 1. Introduction 215
- 2. The Rules of Evidence 216
 - a. Types of Evidence 216
 - b. Forms of Evidence 216

- c. The Requirements of Relevancy and Competency 217
- d. Hearsay 218
- e. Other Evidence Rules 219
- f. Excluded Material and Privileged Material 219
- 3. Conducting the Investigation 221
 - a. Planning the Investigation 221
 - b. Ensuring a Successful Investigation 223
 - c. Locating People 224
 - d. Locating Experts 226
 - e. Locating Businesses 226
 - f. Locating Government and Public Records 227
 - (1) Obtaining Federal Government Records 227
 - (2) Obtaining Records and Information from Federal Agencies 228
 - (3) Obtaining State and Local Records 229
 - g. Conducting a Physical Investigation 230
 - h. Using Lexis and Westlaw for Investigations 230
 - i. Using Professional Investigators and Attorneys' Services 231
 - j. Evaluating Results of Investigations 231
 - k. Reporting Results of Investigations 231

Net Results 232

Case Illustration — Attorney-Client Privilege Extends to

Paralegal's Notes 233

Key Terms 233

Chapter Summary 234

Trivia 235

Discussion Questions 235

Closing Arguments 236

PART III: PARALEGALS IN THE WORKPLACE

CHAPTER 8: CIVIL LITIGATION 239

Chapter Overview 239

A. The Civil Litigation Life Cycle 240

- 1. Introduction 240
- 2. Before the Lawsuit Is Filed 240
- 3. Initiating the Lawsuit 240
 - a. The Plaintiff's Complaint 240
 - b. Filing and Serving the Complaint 241
 - c. The Defendant's Response to the Complaint 244

- d. Counterclaims, Cross-Claims, and Third-Party Practice 245
- e. Amendments to Pleadings 245
- f. The Scheduling Conference 245
- 4. Discovery 245
 - a. Introduction 245
 - b. Disclosure Obligations 246
 - c. Scope of Discovery 246
 - d. Features Shared by Discovery Devices 247
 - e. Interrogatories 247
 - f. Depositions 247

xvi Contents

- g. Requests for Production of Documents and Tangible Things and Inspection 251
- h. Requests for Admissions 251
- i. Requests for Physical and Mental Examinations 252
- j. Discovery of Electronic Evidence 252
- k. Exclusions from Discovery 254
- 1. Duty to Supplement Disclosures 254
- m. Trends in E-Discovery: Technology Assisted Review 255
- n. Sanctions and Protective Orders 256
- 5. Pretrial Activities 257
- 6. Trial 257
- 7. The Paralegal's Role in Litigation 258
- Class Actions, Multidistrict Litigation, and Complex Case Management 260

B. Alternative Dispute Resolution 262

Net Results 264

Case Illustration—Attorney Responsibility for Paralegal's

Calendaring Error 264

Key Terms 264

Chapter Summary 265

Trivia 266

Discussion Questions 267

Closing Arguments 267

CHAPTER 9: PARALEGAL PRACTICE SPECIALTIES: WHAT PARALEGALS DO 269

Chapter Overview 269

A. Contracts 270

- 1. Introduction 270
- 2. Elements of a Valid Contract 271
- 3. Performance and Remedies for Breach 271
- 4. Defenses to Breach of Contract 272
- 5. Rights of Third Parties 272
- 6. The Paralegal's Role in Contracts 272

B. Torts 272

- 1. Introduction 272
- 2. Intentional Torts 275
- 3. Negligence 276
- Strict Liability, Products Liability, and Toxic Torts 277
- 5. The Paralegal's Role in Torts 277

C. Business and Corporate Law 278

1. Introduction 278

- 2. Types of Business Entities 278
- 3. Business and Corporate Transactions 280
- The Paralegal's Role in Business and Corporate Law 280

D. Real Property 281

- 1. Introduction 281
- 2. Real Property Ownership 282
- 3. Transfers of Real Property 283
- 4. Leases of Real Property 284
- 5. The Paralegal's Role in Real Property 285

E. Estate Planning, Wills, and Trusts 286

- 1. Introduction 286
- 2. Estate Planning 286
- 3. Wills and Intestate Succession 286
 - a. Introduction 286
 - b. Requirements for a Valid Will 287
 - c. Additional Elements of Wills 287
 - d. Revisions to Wills 288
 - e. Intestate Succession 288
- 4. Probate 288
- 5. Trusts 289
- The Paralegal's Role in Estate Planning, Wills, and Trusts 289

F. Family Law 290

- 1. Introduction 290
- Marriage, Separation, Annulment, and Divorce 290
 - a. Prenuptial Agreements 290
 - b. Marriage 291
 - c. Separation, Annulment, and Divorce 291
 - d. Custody, Visitation, and Child and Spousal Support 292
 - e. Domestic Violence and Harassment 294
 - f. Marriage Equality 294
- 3. Adoption 295
- 4. Juvenile Law 296
- 5. The Paralegal's Role in Family Law 298

G. Other Paralegal Practice Specialties 299

H. In-House Paralegal Duties 301

Net Results 302

Case Illustration — Marriage Equality for Same-Sex

Couples 302

Key Terms 303

Chapter Summary 304

Trivia 306

Discussion Questions 306

Closing Arguments 307

Contents xvii

CHAPTER 10: CAREER STRATEGIES: GETTING A JOB, KEEPING A JOB, AND QUITTING A JOB 309

Chapter Overview 309

Α.	Getting	Your	First	Iob	310
	Cottoning	1041	I II De	,	010

- 1. Introduction 310
- 2. Setting Objectives 310
- 3. Self-Assessment 312
- 4. Evaluating the Marketplace 314
- 5. Where to Look for a Job 316
- 6. Writing an Effective Résumé 319
 - a. Introduction 319
 - b. Résumé Content 320
 - c. Sensitive Areas in Résumés 322
 - d. Polishing Your Résumé 323
- 7. The Cover Letter 324
- 8. Preparing for Interviews 326
- 9. The Interview 327
 - a. The Formalities 327
 - b. The Actual Interview 328
 - c. Illegal Questions 330
 - d. Your Role in an Interview 331
 - e. Concluding the Interview 332
- 10. Post-Interview Activities 332
- 11. Evaluating an Offer 334
- 12. Salary Negotiations 335
- 13. Offer Contingencies 336
- 14. Offer Reneges 336
- 15. What to Do If Nothing Works 337
- 16. Two Post-Acceptance Tasks 338
- 17. Applying for a Job Using the Internet 338

B. Keeping a Job 339

- 1. Introduction 339
- 2. Strategies for On-the-Job Success 339
- 3. Performance Evaluations and Salary

Negotiations 340

- a. Planning for Your Performance Evaluation 340
- b. Learning from Your Performance Evaluation 341
- c. Salary Negotiations During Your Performance Evaluation 342
- 4. Career Advancement 343

C. Quitting a Job 344

- 1. Planning to Quit 344
- The Resignation Process and Your Resignation Letter 345

D. Getting the Next Job 346

- 1. Introduction 346
- 2. Future-Proofing Your Career 347
- 3. Looking for the Next Job 347
- Some Special Concerns When Looking for Another Job 348
- 5. The Interview and Offer 349
- 6. Law-Related Jobs 349

Net Results 350

Case Illustration—Age Discrimination in Hiring 350

Key Terms 351

Chapter Summary 351

Trivia 352

Discussion Questions 353

Closing Arguments 353

CHAPTER 11: THE LAW OFFICE ENVIRONMENT 355

Chapter Overview 355

A. Law Firm Structures and Organization 356

- 1. Introduction 356
- 2. Sole Practitioners 356
- 3. General Partnerships 356
- 4. Limited Liability Partnerships 357
- 5. Limited Liability Companies 358
- 6. Professional Corporations 358
- 7. Office Sharing 359
- 8. Liability 359

B. Law Firm Environments 359

- 1. Introduction 359
- 2. Working for a Sole Practitioner or Small Firm 359
- 3. Working in Medium-Sized Law Firms 360
- 4. Working in Large Law Firms 360
- 5. Organization Within Law Firms 361

C. Law Firm Personnel 362

D. Money Matters 364

- Introduction and Traditional Fee Arrangements 364
- 2. Concerns About Billable Hours 365
- 3. Alternative Fee Arrangements 367
- 4. Timekeeping Practices 367
 - a. Introduction 367
 - b. How Time Is Calculated 368
 - c. How Time Is Recorded 368
 - d. Best Timekeeping Practices 371
- 5. Client Accounts 371

xviii Contents

E. Law Office Procedures 372

- 1. Introduction 372
- 2. Policy Manuals 373
- 3. Conflict Checks 373
- 4. File Maintenance 373
- 5. Form Banks 375
- 6. Copying, Mailing, Faxing, and Emailing 376
- 7. Calendaring and Docket Control 377
- 8. Complex Case Management and Technology 378
- 9. Disruption in Legal Services: Alternative Legal Service Providers and Other Trends 380

F. Other Work Environments 382

- 1. Introduction 382
- 2. Corporate Employment 382
- 3. Public Sector Employment 383
- 4. Other Employment Opportunities 383

Net Results 384

Case Illustration — Need for Specificity in Billing

Records 384

Key Terms 385

Chapter Summary 386

Trivia 387

Discussion Questions 387

Closing Arguments 388

CHAPTER 12: PUTTING IT TOGETHER: STRATEGIES FOR SUCCESS IN THE WORKPLACE 391

Chapter Overview 391

A. Success in the Workplace: Soft Skills 391

- 1. Introduction 391
- 2. The Team Approach 392
- 3. Attributes of Successful Paralegals 392
 - a. Reliability 392
 - b. Competency 393

- c. Flexibility 393
- d. Professional Appearance and Demeanor 393
 - (1) Dress to Impress 393
 - (2) The Business Casual Office 394
 - (3) Professional Demeanor 394

B. Three Critical Workplace Skills 395

- 1. Organization Skills 395
 - a. Organization Tools 396
 - b. Organization Systems 396
- 2. Communications Skills 397
 - a. Introduction 397
 - b. Writing Skills 397
 - c. Speaking Skills 398
 - 1 Fine in Girll 200
 - d. Listening Skills 398
 - e. Reading Skills 398
- 3. Computer Skills 399
 - a. Word-Processing and Related Skills 399
 - b. Skills in Other Technology Applications 399
 - c. Email Skills 400
 - d. Internet Skills 400

C. What to Do When You Get a Work Assignment 401

D. Time-Management Strategies 403

- 1. Introduction 403
- 2. Setting Priorities 403
- 3. Time-Management Techniques 404

E. Some Closing Thoughts 407

Net Results 408

Case Illustration—Attorney's Uncivil Conduct Justifies

Sanctions 408

Key Terms 409

Chapter Summary 409

Trivia 410

Discussion Questions 410

Closing Arguments 410

Appendices

Appendix A Paralegal Associations and Bar

Associations 413

Appendix B NALA Code of Ethics and Professional

Responsibility 417

Appendix C NALA Model Standards and Guidelines for Utilization of Paralegals 419

Appendix D NFPA Model Code of Ethics and

Professional Responsibility and Guidelines

for Enforcement 423

Appendix E

Citation Form 431

Appendix F

F Writing Basics: Grammar, Punctuation,

and Spelling 439

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1	Note-Taking Abbreviations 9	Figure 6-2	Sample Demand Letter 187
Figure 1-2	Cornell Note-Taking System 11	Figure 6-3	Quick Reference: Elements of
Figure 2-1	Definitions of "Paralegal" 27		Letters 188
Figure 2-2	Paralegal Education by the Numbers 31	Figure 6-4	Ethics Tips in Letter Writing 189
Figure 2-3	Voluntary Paralegal Registration/	Figure 6-5	Elements of a Typical Memorandum 192
	Certification Programs 38	Figure 6-6	Commonly Used Proofreaders'
Figure 2-4	Paralegal Compensation 50		Marks 197
Figure 3-1	Inadvertent Disclosures 65	Figure 6-7	Plagiarism 199
Figure 3-2	Summary of Conflicts Rules Governing	Figure 7-1	Client Intake Form for Domestic
	Paralegals 70		Relations (Partial) 209
Figure 3-3	Request for Conflict Check 71	Figure 7-2	Strategies for Effective Interviews 214
Figure 3-4	IOLTA—Using Interest on Client Funds	Figure 7-3	Sample FOIA Request Letter 229
	for the Public Good 73	Figure 8-1	Sample Complaint for Breach of
Figure 3-5	Cyber Ethics Issues 75		Contract 242
Figure 4-1	United States District Courts and Courts	Figure 8-2	Summarizing Depositions 249
	of Appeals 107	Figure 8-3	Sample Privilege Log 255
Figure 4-2	The Thirteen Federal Judicial Circuits 110	Figure 8-4	Civil Litigation Flow Chart 259
Figure 4-3	Jurisdiction of United States Supreme	Figure 9-1	Joint Venture Agreement 273
	Court 112	Figure 10-1	Setting "SMART" Goals 312
Figure 4-4	Federal Court Structure 113	Figure 10-2	Paralegal Job Advertisements 317
Figure 4-5	Minnesota Court Structure 114	Figure 10-3	Sample Résumé for Paralegal 325
Figure 5-1	Legal Research Authorities 127	Figure 10-4	Handling Tricky Interview
Figure 5-2	Titles of the <i>United States Code</i> 129		Questions 329
Figure 5-3	Statute from U.S.C.A. 131	Figure 10-5	Sample Thank-You Note 334
Figure 5-4	Published Case 136	Figure 10-6	Sample Letter of Resignation 346
Figure 5-5	Major Units of West's National Reporter	Figure 11-1	Hand-Prepared Time Record 370
	System 144	Figure 11-2	Sample Confidentiality Notice for
Figure 5-6	Chart of Legal Authorities 151		Facsimile Cover Sheet 376
Figure 5-7	Legal Research Blueprint 153	Figure 11-3	
Figure 5-8	Quick Reference: Citation Form 155		Transmissions 377
Figure 5-9	Sample Case Brief 169	Figure 12-1	
Figure 6-1	SEC Guidelines for Plain English 180	Figure 12-2	Practice Management Software 400

PREFACE

INTRODUCTION

The paralegal field continues its rapid growth, with the Department of Labor predicting that the profession is expected to grow much faster than the average for all occupations through 2028. Moreover, the value of paralegals to the legal profession is universally recognized. Consider the following statement by the American Bar Association: "The utilization of paralegals improves the efficiency, economy, and availability of legal services." Not only the American Bar Association but also a number of court decisions have endorsed the use of paralegals to make legal services more affordable and accessible.

With that growth and recognition come additional responsibilities. Today's paralegals are expected to perform a wide variety of tasks, including legal research, legal writing, interviewing, and investigating. In addition, paralegals are expected to know substantive areas of law, such as civil procedure, litigation, and corporate law.

Graduates of paralegal programs are expected "to hit the ground running" when they get a job, yet there is a significant gap between what is learned in the classroom and the way to apply this knowledge in the real world of a law office environment. This third edition of *A Practical Introduction to Paralegal Studies: Strategies for Success* is meant to bridge this gap by combining a thorough grounding in the paralegal profession with a pragmatic overview of what paralegals are expected to know and do in the workplace.

The text is divided into three main sections: The first section begins with a review of study skills and then discusses the paralegal profession and the U.S. legal system; the second section covers the paralegal skills of research, analysis, writing, interviewing, and investigating; and the final section discusses the workplace, covering what paralegals do in "real life," the various types of law practice, law office environments, career strategies, and techniques for success in the workplace.

Each chapter and section builds on the previous one. For example, once you read Chapter Four and understand the differences between trial and appellate courts, you will be ready for the discussion in Chapter Five about how to locate appellate court cases. Similarly, once you read Chapter Six's information about

xxii Preface

writing, you will understand how to prepare a memorandum or an executive summary setting forth the results of a client interview, which is discussed in Chapter Seven. Chapters Eight and Nine discuss the practice areas in which paralegals work. The text concludes with the most pragmatic information of all: how to get a job, keep a job, quit a job, and how to be successful in a law office environment.

A REAL-WORLD APPROACH

The text provides pragmatic and realistic information covering situations that occur in the real world of a law office. For example, the following topics are covered:

- Effective ways to improve note taking and to study for exams;
- What to do if you observe ethical misconduct in the workplace;
- Using the Internet to impress clients;
- Common blunders when using email;
- Cultivating listening skills;
- Best practices for timekeeping and billing;
- Advocating for yourself in salary negotiations;
- How and when to quit a job;
- What to do when you receive an assignment at work;
- How to present a professional appearance on the job; and
- Time-management techniques to improve job performance.

FEATURES OF THE TEXT

The text includes a number of features to enhance learning. Each chapter includes the following features:

- **Chapter overview.** Each chapter begins with a preview of the material that will be presented in the chapter.
- **Key terms.** The key terms and concepts used in the chapter are presented in boldface type and are defined in the margin near where the material is discussed. All of the key terms are listed at the end of each chapter so you can test your comprehension of these terms.
- **Tips.** Each chapter includes a pragmatic and practical tip applying the substantive information in the chapter to "real life" job situations.
- **Net results.** Each chapter provides references to websites where you can locate additional information on the topics covered in the chapter.
- Case illustration. A case that illustrates one of the core concepts discussed in the chapter is presented at the end of each chapter.
- Chapter summary. Each chapter's substantive discussion concludes with a review of the key presented in the Cornell Note-Taking System (as described in Chapter One).
- **Trivia.** The Trivia section provides fun and interesting facts about some of the topics covered in the chapter.
- **Discussion questions.** Questions to challenge comprehension of the text material and stimulate class or study group discussion are presented.

Preface xxiii

■ Closing arguments. Each chapter includes a series of practical questions that require readers to locate information pertinent to the chapter by accessing well-known legal or general interest Internet sites that practicing paralegals will be expected to know and navigate on the job.

Each chapter also includes charts, graphs, sample forms, and other instructional aids, as needed. For example, Chapter Six includes ethical tips relating to legal writing, Chapter Eight provides samples of deposition summaries, and Chapter Ten includes suggestions on handling difficult interview questions and a sample resignation letter.

This third edition of the text introduces several new features, including the following:

- A revamped and significantly expanded discussion of regulation of the paralegal profession, including limited licensing programs in the States of Washington and Utah, is included in Chapter Two.
- Chapters Two and Three provide an overview of alternative legal models such as legal navigators and Rocket Lawyer to close the access-to-justice gap and provide more affordable legal services to consumers.
- An overview of new trends in ethics (including alternative business structures, which are collaborations of attorneys and nonattorneys, such as accountants) is provided in Chapter Three.
- An entirely new section on the use of social media by legal professionals, including ethical issues related to blogs, friend requests, and reviewing a juror's presence on the Internet, is found in Chapter Three.
- Chapter Three includes a new section on cutting-edge developments in ethics issues, including nonlawyer ownership of law firms, litigation financing, and whether Internet-accessible advice and forms such as those provided by LegalZoom constitute the unauthorized practice of law.
- New developments in computer-assisted legal research, including the use of artificial intelligence and using free tools such as Google Scholar, GovInfo, Congress .gov, and CourtListener to access American law, are discussed in Chapter Five.
- A significantly expanded section on e-discovery is provided in Chapter Eight, including changes to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, information on legal holds and privilege logs, a sample privilege log, and new trends in e-discovery, including predictive coding and technology assisted review.
- Chapters Ten and Twelve include new tips and approaches to getting a job, setting "SMART" goals, handling tricky interview questions, and future-proofing your career, as well as an expanded discussion of soft skills needed to succeed on the job.
- A new section titled "Disruption in Legal Services: Alternative Legal Service Providers and Other Trends" that discusses insourcing, use of alternative legal service providers, and secondments is given in Chapter Eleven.
- All new Case Illustrations, Discussion Questions, and Internet Closing Arguments are included.
- New forms (for example, a client intake sheet) are provided throughout the text.
- Citations in the text comply with the new twenty-first edition of *The Bluebook* released in mid-2020.

xxiv Preface

Although every effort has been made to refer to useful websites, those sites can change both their content and addresses without notice. References to websites are not endorsements of those sites.

FINAL THOUGHTS

Paralegals play a critical role in helping clients. Be excited about the challenges and opportunities that your new profession provides. Commit yourself to excellence both as a student and as a practicing paralegal. You will be rewarded not only monetarily but also by knowing that you have performed your job to the best of your abilities. Welcome!

Deborah E. Bouchoux Winter 2020

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my sincere appreciation to the many individuals who contributed to the development of this text. First, as always, I would like to thank Susan M. Sullivan, former Program Director at the University of San Diego Paralegal Program. Sue gave me my first teaching position many years ago, and I value and respect her many contributions to the paralegal profession.

I would like to thank Brian Yeary for providing me with some forms. Many thanks also to the various individuals who reviewed the manuscript on behalf of the publisher. Their comments and advice were instructive and insightful. Throughout the more than 20 years I have been involved in teaching paralegals, I have received valuable comments and feedback from my students on the paralegal profession, strategies for success as students and as practicing paralegals, and the skills and attributes paralegals need to be valued members of the legal team.

Finally, my sincere appreciation to the following individuals at Wolters Kluwer Legal Education who worked with me on the development of this text: Joe Terry, Publisher; and Jordan Jepsen, Managing Editor. Finally, thank you to Betsy Kenny, Developmental Editor at The Froebe Group, and to Tom Daughhetee's editorial team at The Froebe Group for their excellent copyediting and proofreading skills. All members of the Wolters Kluwer Legal Education team offered encouragement and support throughout the writing and production phases of this text. Their thoughtful comments and suggestions were much appreciated and greatly contributed to the text.

I would like to acknowledge the following publishers and legal associations for granting me permission to reproduce copyrighted material for this text.

Figure 5-3: Reprinted with permission from Thompson/West.

Figure 5-4: Reprinted with permission from Thompson/West.

Appendix B: Reprinted with permission from National Association of Legal Assistants.

XXVI Acknowledgments

Appendix C: Reprinted with permission from National Association of Legal Assistants.

Appendix D: Reprinted with permission. Copyright National Federation of Paralegal Associations, Inc.

No copyright is claimed in any material owned by the United States government, including material shown in Figure 4-2.

A PRACTICAL INTRODUCTION TO PARALEGAL STUDIES

PART

FUNDAMENTALS FOR SUCCESS IN THE PARALEGAL PROFESSION AND THE AMERICAN LEGAL SYSTEM



EARNING IS A TREASURE WHICH ACCOMPANIES ITS OWNER EVERYWHERE.

—CHINESE PROVERB

CHAPTER OVERVIEW

This chapter focuses on the skills you will need to be successful in the classroom. A variety of study skills are discussed, including techniques on how to master your reading assignments and remember them, tips on note taking, and strategies to help you prepare for and take examinations. These study skills are useful not only in the classroom but also on the job, because working paralegals routinely read a great deal of material and are required to take notes for a variety of work-related tasks.

A. SUCCESS AS A STUDENT

A successful student is someone who leaves the classroom understanding the material covered and knowing how to put this knowledge to use in the real world. The only way teachers can measure whether students understand the topics covered in class is to give projects, homework, or tests, and then assign a grade based on the student's performance. Although these methods may be accurate gauges of comprehension in some cases, in other cases, perhaps due to a student's test anxiety or personal problems, the grade is not reflective of the student's mastery of the

material. Nevertheless, because grades are assigned in most paralegal education programs and because an employer later may rely on a student's grades as one measure of ability, it is important to be a successful student.

Students who have been highly successful at the secondary or undergraduate levels may struggle a bit in their paralegal classes. The techniques that were successful in other classes and schools may not work in law-related classes. Why? Because in much undergraduate work, the focus is on getting the "right answer." In the law, however, the right answer is not always easy to spot. Issues are murky. There may well be more than one right answer. Moreover, the process of analyzing the law is as important as finding the right answer. Add in an entirely new vocabulary, a new way of writing, and rigid time constraints, and it is easy to see why new paralegal students often feel overwhelmed.

Successful students share several things in common: They do the work assigned, they come to class prepared, and they persistently work until they have mastered the material. Even more important than being a successful student and earning a good grade is being a successful learner, because learning is not something you leave behind in the classroom. You will need to learn throughout your life.

B. READING THE MATERIAL

1. Read to Remember

Legal professionals spend a great deal of time reading. They read statutes, cases, correspondence, briefs filed by adverse counsel, and so forth. To prepare you for this fact of legal life, your paralegal instructors will likely require a great deal of reading from you. You will take several different classes, each with at least one textbook and likely a packet of ancillary materials. The pace is nearly relentless. In some cases, the material is dry; in nearly all cases, the material is difficult. There is no plot to hold your interest. Thus, reading is a difficult assignment in and of itself. Consequently, it is critical to understand how to read the material in a way that will aid comprehension. Follow these five tips to master the reading material assigned in your courses.

- **Read before class.** First, unless instructed otherwise, read the material before attending class. You will understand the concepts discussed in class better if you have a framework in which to put them.
- Preview for five minutes. You will be greatly tempted to rush into the material and start reading. Don't. Invest five minutes before you begin any reading assignment by reviewing the table of contents relevant to the reading assignment. For example, if you are assigned to read Chapter Three of this text, a review of the table of contents discloses that you are given introductory material relating to ethics and responsibility, that the next topic discussed is the codes governing attorneys and paralegals, and then the chapter addresses specific ethical duties imposed on paralegals. Just as you cannot put together a puzzle without first seeing the complete picture, you should first understand the "big picture" of your assignment before trying to fit in the little pieces. Mark your table of contents with a sticky flag for easy reference. After reading the table of contents, read any chapter overview or chapter summary. Do not make the mistake of thinking

B. Reading the Material

these parts of a chapter are fluff. In general, they are carefully constructed by the text's author to preview and then summarize the most important concepts covered. Similarly, key terms or margin notes are placed there for a reason: to reinforce learning. Don't ignore these helpful tools.

- **Divide and conquer.** Once you have completed your preview, break your reading into manageable parts. Unless your assignment is very short, it is unrealistic to think you can read all of the material in one sitting. Review the chapter headings and decide which sections you will read, how many pages you plan to read, or how much time you will read. Take frequent short breaks if needed. Set small goals for yourself. For example, decide to read the first section of a chapter. When you finish that section, reward yourself with a small break.
- **Take your text to class.** Bring your text with you to class (or bring your laptop if you are using an ebook) and follow along as the instructor discusses the material. The instructor will likely explain difficult concepts and terms. Having your text in front of you will help you remember the material. Similarly, if you found a concept confusing, place a question mark or write the actual question in your text margin. When the instructor discusses this section, ask for clarification.
- **Read after class.** After the class discusses the reading material, invest another five minutes and review the text. It may be sufficient to review merely the chapter overview or the chapter summary. A quick review of the key terms may remind you of some of the material covered. Develop a habit of reviewing the material as soon after class as you can. Consider remaining in your seat for three to five minutes after class to review the material one more time and imprint it in your memory.

2. The SQ3R Method of Reading

One very popular method of reading material is the **SQ3R method**. There are five steps in this method, which is designed to improve reading comprehension.

- **Survey the material.** Quickly scan titles, key terms, headings, introduction, and so forth within a section of your assigned reading.
- **Question.** As you survey, think of questions to ask yourself about the material. Use the titles and headings to formulate questions.
- **Read.** Read the material at your normal reading speed (although you may need to reduce your speed for complex passages).
- **Recite.** Repeat from memory out loud the section you have read and formulate the answers to your questions. Summarize the material you read.
- **Review.** At the end of a chapter, review the material you read by highlighting key terms and concepts.

3. Techniques to Remember the Material

Studies show that most of us forget nearly half of what we read within 15 minutes after reading it. Thus, we need to work to retain material. Reading a novel for pleasure is a passive activity. In contrast, reading a text to master its materials requires active work on your part. There are four ways to help you remember the materials you have read.

SO3R method

A method of reading designed to improve comprehension; its five components are surveying the material, questioning the material, reading, reciting, and reviewing the material

- Mark your text. Marking or writing in your textbook is an excellent way of helping you remember critical concepts. You may ignore the rule you heard all through grade school and secondary school that you may not write in your books. The books you purchased for your program are yours. Go ahead and mark them to your heart's delight. If you wish to sell your books at the end of a semester, those that are highly marked may be worth less money; however, the value to you of understanding the material is worth far more than the few dollars' reduction in resale price a marked book garners. Moreover, you may decide to keep your textbook, or a new edition may render your textbook out of date. The physical act of highlighting (whether using physical markers or electronic highlighting tools) engages you more fully in the reading process and forces you to focus on the material. Consider skimming a section before you mark it. This approach will tell you what is important so you can mark it during your actual reading. There are different ways to mark your text to make it helpful to you:
 - ☐ Underscoring. Underscoring is a common method of marking a text. It will enable you to find important issues and key terms at a glance.
 - ☐ Highlighting. Many readers like to use felt-tipped markers (or electronic highlighting tools when reading an ebook) to highlight critical issues. Consider using different colors for different issues. Highlighting important topics makes it easy to review these areas when preparing outlines or reviewing for tests. Resist the temptation to highlight nearly everything. Highlight only the core concepts.
 - ☐ Making margin notes. Placing arrows, notes, or key terms in the margin is an effective way to help you retrieve important information when studying for tests. This technique is effective if you need to memorize certain information. For example, if you are expected to know the elements of a cause of action for fraud, use a different-colored pen or symbol so that you can easily find this information when you prepare for your exams. Place question marks next to the sections you have difficulty with, so you can spend extra time on them or ask the instructor to clarify these sections in class.
- Challenge your understanding. When you reach the end of a section, stop for a minute and review out loud what you have just finished. Reciting the material aloud will help you remember it. Using two senses (seeing and hearing) will help impress the material on your memory. Review any discussion questions at the end of a section or chapter and challenge yourself to answer them. Write encapsulations of your answers to the discussion questions on an index card and place it at this page, so you are ready to participate if the instructor reviews these questions in class.
- **Take notes.** After reading the assigned material, consider preparing a brief overview or outline. Use the table of contents as your guide to the key topics discussed in a chapter and prepare notes on the reading. You may wish to delay taking notes until after the class session, when you can then integrate notes on the text with notes from the class, using different-colored paper or pens so you can easily determine the source of the information. Do not rewrite your class notes in full. Selective note taking will force you to focus on what is important.
- **Control your environment.** Make sure that you read in an environment that is conducive to learning. Sit in a comfortable chair; make sure the lighting is adequate; and, most important, eliminate distractions, particularly television and phone

alerts. Although some activities can be multi-tasked with others, reading cannot. It requires your full attention. Try to notice when your energy levels are higher. For example, if you are more alert in the morning, schedule your reading for that time.

C. CLASSROOM ACTIVITIES TO ENHANCE LEARNING

1. Preliminary Guidelines

The classroom is the center of your learning activity. Classroom activity is meant to guide you to mastery of the subject matter, clarify any difficult material, and answer any questions you may have. Five very simple preliminary rules will greatly enhance your learning in the classroom:

- Attend class. Attend all classes. You paid for them, so make sure you get value for your dollars. If you are sick or cannot attend class, ask another student to take notes for you and pick up any handouts. Be responsible for your own learning.
- **Be on time.** Entering a class late is disrespectful to the instructor and other students. Other students are distracted while you search for a seat, remove your coat, locate your notebook and pens, and settle into your seat. Moreover, your ability to ask questions is compromised because it is possible the instructor has already covered certain material before you arrived. Asking the instructor to repeat instructions or material already covered is unprofessional.
- **Sit in front.** You probably search for the best seat in a movie theater or at a concert, yet you may be opting for the worst seat in a classroom: at the back. It is harder to see the board and any displays from the back. In addition, distraction levels are higher because you will be distracted by all the movements and activities of the students in front of you. Sitting in the front forces you to focus on what the instructor is saying because there's no place to hide.
- Review the syllabus before class. Your class syllabus provides an excellent overview of what material will be covered for each class and what is expected of you. Review the syllabus to make sure you bring the required texts, notes, or other materials to the class.
- Avoid distractions. You will not only distract others but also yourself if you eat or drink in the class or if you try surreptitiously to open a package or a beverage can. Similarly, turn your cell phone off and do not look at it during class. Reviewing your calls or messages during class tells your instructor you don't care about the material.

2. Active Listening

Active listening, discussed further in Chapter Seven, is a method of communication in which the listener is actively engaged in the discussion. Sitting in a classroom and hearing a lecture is easy; listening is far more difficult. Consider the following to enhance your listening skills so you get the most out of your classroom experience:

■ **Be attentive.** You will need to make a good faith effort to concentrate on what is being said. Try not to let your mind wander. Keep your textbook open and be

Active listening

Communication technique that lets speaker know that listener is attentive

ready to take notes. Avoid places in the classroom (near hallways and doors) that are distracting.

- Listen and watch for cues. In many instances, instructors give cues as to what is critical. Thus, expressions such as "in sum," or "to prevail," or "there are three factors," are signals that the words to follow are important. Similarly, copy down what the instructor puts on the board or displays in any visual projection. Instructors do not go to the effort of putting information on the board or preparing a visual display if they do not think the information is important.
- Anticipate and participate. Think ahead to see if you can guess what will be discussed next. Such an exercise will engage you more fully in the lecture and will test your comprehension of the reading you did before class. Listen for the main idea the instructor is making. You do not need to write down every word the way a court reporter would. Focus on understanding the message being conveyed to you rather than on each word uttered. Be ready to participate. Many students are uncomfortable volunteering to answer questions posed in class. Don't be shy. Go ahead and take a chance. If something is unclear, ask for clarification. Thinking of questions will also help you understand how the material being discussed relates to material previously discussed or presented in the text. If the instructor does not provide time for questions or there is no natural "break" in the class to ask questions, talk to the instructor after class. Prepare a "to do" list or list of action items that need to be completed before the next class session.
- **Don't be judgmental.** Effective listeners avoid mentally arguing with speakers; they listen fully. Ignore a speaker's mannerisms, tone of voice, appearance, and so forth. Every minute you spend judging how a speaker looks, acts, or talks is a minute that you are not focusing on the material being presented.

3. Note Taking

a. General Comments

Taking notes (whether in longhand or using a word processor) is an excellent way to force yourself to be attentive during a lecture. If you are note taking you cannot be daydreaming because you will have to focus on what is being said. Moreover, when note taking, you cannot transcribe every word of a speaker, so you will already focus on critical concepts and discard "asides." This is true learning. You will also need to take notes on the job—for example, when you are given a new work assignment or are interviewing a witness. Taking notes in class is good preparation for this skill you will need in the workplace. No matter which method you use, there are some strategies to follow to help you take notes that enhance your understanding of the material:

- Write or type legibly.
- When handwriting, write on one side of the paper only.
- Consider using a looseleaf binder so you can add pages or shuffle sections around.
- Use a separate binder, section, or file for each class.
- Use labels and tabs to divide your notes into meaningful sections.
- Develop a system of abbreviations (see Figure 1-1).

FIGURE 1-1

Because instructors and supervisors can speak faster than you can write, you need to develop a system of abbreviations for taking notes in class or on the job. Although there are some common legal and general symbols, any symbol or abbreviation will be satisfactory as long as you understand it. You may also use some of the abbreviations shown in *The Bluebook* (the guide to citation form discussed in Chapter Five and Appendix E), such as "Br." for "Brief."

LEGAL ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

Π Δ	plaintiff defendant	JNOV	judgment notwithstanding the verdict
\$	section	Re:	regarding
K	contract	SJ	summary judgment
atty	attorney	S/F	statute of frauds
cert	certiorari	S/L	statute of limitations
dep J, J'ment	deposition, deponent judgment	v., vs.	versus, as opposed to

GENERAL ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

\rightarrow	produces, causes	X	times
\leftarrow	comes from, results from	#	number
=	equivalent to, similar to,	A.	answer
	approximately	b/c, bec.	because
+	in addition to, also	b/f	before
<	less than	С.	circa, about
>	more than	e.g.	for example
/	per	p., pp., pg.	page, pages
=	equal to, the same as	Q. or ?	question
≠	not equal to	:.	therefore
\$	money	w/	with
&	and	w/in	within
<u>a</u>	at		

- Do not worry about transcribing every word. Focus on the main ideas and concepts. Fill in gaps during class breaks.
- Take verbatim notes only when identifying lists, such as the elements of a valid contract. Mark this section of your notes in some way, perhaps by using colored pens or placing a large "M" (for "memorize") in the margin, so you can easily find this important information, especially if you are required to memorize it.
- Skip lines or move to a new paragraph when a new topic is introduced. Highlight new topics by underlining them, by using a different-colored pen, or marking them in some way.

TIPS

Should You Take Notes in Longhand or by Laptop?

A study analyzing the effectiveness of taking notes by longhand and laptop found the following:

- Participants using laptops were more likely to take verbatim notes than those who wrote in longhand (because people can type faster than they can write). Such transcribing was found to be "detrimental to learning."
- Students writing in longhand were more inclined to be selective when taking notes and tended to process the information better because they were summarizing and reframing it in their own words as they wrote.
- Students who took notes by hand performed better in recalling information than those who used laptops.

Pam A. Mueller & Daniel M. Oppenheimer, *The Pen Is Mightier Than the Keyboard: Advantages of Longhand over Note Laptop Note Taking*, Psychol. Sci. (2014), https://bit.ly/3avcyIE.

- Annotate or mark your notes by circling or underlining important dates and issues. Highlight critical concepts.
- Review your notes immediately after class and at least once before the next class session.
- Don't worry over the appearance of your notes. Your goal is not to have the prettiest notes but to have the most effective ones for you.

b. The Cornell Note-Taking System

Although there are a number of different approaches to note taking, one of the best-known systems is called the **Cornell Note-Taking System**. The Cornell technique was devised more than 50 years ago and has been successfully used by thousands of students to improve retention. First, prepare your notebook (or use some free templates you can find on the Internet). Use a notebook with lined paper. Draw a line vertically down the page about 2½ inches from the left side, thus dividing your paper into two columns, the narrower one on the left side (used for key terms), and a wider column (about 6 inches) on the right (used for note taking). Draw a horizontal line either at the bottom of each page or at the end of your notes for each class session, leaving a 2-inch "box" at the bottom of the page for a summary. After you prepare your notebook, follow these six steps:

Cornell Note-Taking System

Method for taking notes, designed to assist users in remembering material; its six components are recording, reducing, reciting, reflecting, reviewing, and recapitulating

- **Record.** During the lecture, record general ideas, topics, and definitions in the right column. Focus on the main ideas rather than attempting to write down every word. Skip lines between topics.
- **Reduce.** After the lecture, reduce the main topics and facts to cues or key words and phrases and place these in the left column. These will serve as cues to refresh your memory about the class presentation.
- **Recite.** After the lecture, cover up the information in the right-hand column and, looking only at the key words in the left column, recite the main ideas from the lecture. Do not reread your notes. Use your own words to express the ideas covered in class.
- **Reflect.** Think about the information. Test your memory by asking yourself questions about the topics discussed and providing your own answers to these questions.
- **Review.** Review your notes (avoiding rote rereading) at least once each week (or before the next class meeting) to help you remember the material.
- **Recapitulate.** Draft a summary of your notes in your own words at the end of each page or each lecture. Use complete sentences, and summarize the material in the 2-inch box you prepared at the bottom of each page or section.

See Figure 1-2 for a sample page showing a format for note taking using the Cornell System. The chapter summaries in this text are presented according to the Cornell technique.

FIGURE 1-2

FOUNDATIONS OF BUSINESS LAW

Limited Liability Companies

- LLCs are new entities
- Combinations of partnerships and corps.
- LLCs offer flexible management (management by all members or management by managerial team)
- LLCs protect against personal liability
- Creation: All states require filing of Articles of Organization to create an LLC
- Participants are called "members"
- LLCs are governed by their Operating Agreements
- LLCs offer pass-through or single taxation

An LLC is a new entity that provides full protection for its members from all personal liability while offering flexible management and pass-through tax status.

c. Preparing Review Outlines

A quick review and revision of your notes shortly after a class is very valuable, especially to clarify any confusing issues and to clean up illegible notes. Merely rewriting your notes word for word into a different notebook is less valuable because you will likely put your brain "on hold" and daydream while you rewrite. There are, however, three techniques you may wish to consider to further aid your comprehension and retention of the material.

- Outlining. Consider distilling your notes into a coherent outline of the class. Integrate both your class notes and your textbook information into an outline. Use your text's table of contents for the relevant chapters as a guide. Do not worry about the appearance of the outline or whether each item is numbered consecutively. Incorporate the main elements of the material you will be expected to know. Use colored paper for your outline that is different from your class notes so you can easily distinguish which is which. Note that this is also a good approach if you develop notes from text readings. Use colored paper (or shaded text if you take notes using your laptop) for your reading notes that is different from lecture note pages so you will be able to tell the source of the information you have recorded.
- Using index cards. Many students like to use index cards to review material. Each index card usually has a key term or concept written on one side and a definition or explanation on the other. Students can then easily use these like flash cards to test their knowledge. Using index cards is an effective way of mastering the material because you will need to review the information to prepare each card and you will write the information on the card (once again, reinforcing learning). Index cards are highly portable and easy to review. As you read your text or take notes in class, consider highlighting certain terms or concepts with a different-colored marker to flag the items for which you will later prepare index cards.
- Using a computer. Many students use computers in the classroom to take notes, and there are several specialized software packages to help students organize these notes. Many students prefer to take notes on a laptop because they can type faster than they can write. For example, many students like Google Keep, a note-taking service developed by Google, which provides a variety of tools for taking notes, including text, images, and audio. Others prefer Microsoft's OneNote, which also allows you to create notes that include text, pictures, and tables. If you are in a study group, you can use Google Docs and invite others collaboratively to view, comment on, or edit notes and materials. Try Airtable (https://airtable.com), a free organization tool with many uses, including tracking project success, setting due dates and milestones, and providing colorful tools to push projects to completion.

In addition, cutting and pasting on the computer makes organizing notes easy. Moreover, making sections of the notes more prominent through boldfacing, underscoring, and increasing the font size is readily done. Many students are becoming increasingly creative by using hyperlinks in their notes—for example, to link directly to a pertinent statute or case. The ability to search easily for a term or phrase (or perhaps a mere question mark symbol for your questions and concerns) is a distinct advantage of using a laptop for note taking. There are two main pitfalls to avoid when using a laptop to take notes. First, many writers fear missing a word or phrase and insist on transcribing each word of an instructor

as a court reporter would, leading to too much volume and content and not enough critical analysis. Second, it is easy to become distracted when using a laptop, leading to review of emails and pictures, causing a loss of focus. Remember two critical items before you use a laptop to take notes: Ask your instructor for permission first (many teachers dislike the clicking noise produced by typing) and remember to create a backup of any notes. If you are not permitted to use a laptop during class or prefer not to, you may always use your home computer later to outline or organize your in-class notes.

4. Your Classroom Network and Study Groups

Get to know your fellow students and your instructors. Not only will making acquaintances make your school experience more pleasant, but you will also be widening your network of possible references and job resources. If your instructors do not know you, they will be unable to comment on your abilities and strengths when asked for references by potential employers. If your classmates do not know you, they will be unable to recommend you for a position with their employers. You also need a backup plan: If you are sick or cannot attend a class, you need a colleague to take notes for you and to pick up any handouts. It's a good idea to bounce ideas off your classmates. Develop a buddy system for these very practical reasons and for the emotional support your classmates can offer.

Many students find it helpful to join a **study group**, a small group of students who work together to study the material and function as a support group for each other. Study groups not only help you as a student but also serve as models for working collaboratively in a law firm. Law firm practice is highly collaborative. Much work is done in teams and groups; it is rare for legal professionals to be lone wolves. The following are some general guidelines for forming and operating study groups:

- **Size matters.** Most experts recommend that the study group be between three and six people. If the group is too large, it may be difficult to organize and keep on track; if it is too small, the absence of a member or two will render the group ineffective.
- Composition matters. Because members of the group will work closely with each other under stressful conditions, respect and collegiality are critical. If one member dominates and the others never participate, the group will fail. Similarly, try to organize a group whose members have different strengths and skills so they provide meaningful assistance to each other.
- Organization matters. The group must be organized and disciplined. Meeting times and dates must be scheduled and followed. Meeting once each week is usually sufficient, but you may need to schedule extra sessions before exams or group projects. Do not allow excessive socializing. Stay on task. Your library may provide meeting rooms for group study. Working in the library will remind everyone of the serious nature of the work at hand. Appoint a group leader or assign leadership on a rotating basis. Consider preparing an agenda for each session.
- **Responsibility matters.** Each member will usually be assigned to report on a particular topic or assignment, to outline a chapter, or prepare for an exam. If a member is consistently unprepared, you may need to cut the slacker loose. Remember that the point of the group is to help you learn, not to provide free tutoring for those who do not perform.

Study group

A small group of students who work together to study class material ■ Making changes matters. If the study group does not work for you, don't be afraid to leave it. However, bailing out of the group when everyone counted on you to prepare the pre-exam outline for Chapter Ten is disrespectful and unprofessional.

D. EXAMINATIONS AND CLASS PROJECTS

1. Introduction

There is no secret to what you will be expected to know on examinations. You will be tested on material from your assigned readings and from class lectures. Like nearly every other facet of student success, the key is advance preparation. If you have been reading your assignments, taking good notes in class, and then routinely reviewing your notes, your job is nearly done. One study has reported that at the end of nine weeks (roughly one semester), students who reviewed their notes after class each day recalled about 75 percent of the material covered. Conversely, those who did not review their notes were able to recall only about 20 percent of the material at the end of nine weeks. Thus, if you consistently dedicate time to your studies during the course of your semester, you will not have to dedicate as much time at the end to prepare for your exams. Most experts agree that cramming for an exam is ineffective and causes students to sacrifice needed sleep time in order to study.

2. Strategies to Prepare for Examinations

Whether or not you have been consistently reviewing your notes throughout the semester, there are nine strategies you can adopt to improve your performance on examinations.

■ **Get information about the examination.** Your syllabus will clearly indicate when your examinations will be held, allowing you to do some advance planning. Your syllabus also tells you what your instructor thinks is important. If your instructor does not indicate the type of examination, ask what the exam format will be: essay, short answer, multiple choice, or some other format. If you know the exam will be in essay format and there will be four questions for you to answer in two hours, you can practice writing timed answers to questions



Reciting aloud is an effective study technique. Merely reading aloud and hearing your own voice will reinforce the material and improve your retention.

- you make up yourself or that appear in the textbook. Although there is nothing wrong in asking about the structure of an examination, avoid questions such as, "Will this be on the test?" Such questions signal to your instructor that you care only about the grade and not about learning the material.
- Pay attention to the instructor's comments. Listen for any clues an instructor may provide, such as introducing a topic with the phrase, "it is critical to understand that" Similarly, if the instructor has repeated certain points on several occasions or put information on the board or in a presentation, these are tips that the material is important enough to be covered on the exam. Don't skip classes before an exam. The instructor may provide a review session or indicate exam topics.
- Study old exams and quizzes. Many instructors place copies of their old exams on reserve in the library. Review any such exams because they will give you an idea about the instructor's approach to tests. Determine whether most questions derive from the text or from class notes. If you have had quizzes or been assigned projects in the class, review any comments the instructor made to determine the instructor's style and preferences. Note that quiz questions sometimes have a way of reappearing in modified form on a later exam.
- Manage your time. Integrate all of your exam schedules into one master calendar so you can see at a glance when exams will occur, how many days you have between each exam, and so forth. Then set up a study schedule for yourself and stick to it. Break up the material into manageable chunks. Some experts suggest learning the hardest concepts or most troublesome material first and switching between topics if you become bored. Many students, however, prefer to learn the material in the order presented in the text and in the class lectures, because this approach places the material into a unified whole. See the discussion in Chapter Twelve on time-management techniques.
- **Review notes.** One or two weeks before the exam, review all of your notes. This will bring the entire class into focus and will let you know which material you have mastered and which material is proving difficult. Annotate areas of concern in your notes with question marks or sticky flags.
- **Prepare outlines or flash cards.** If you haven't already done so, prepare outlines or flash cards. The index cards you prepared earlier serve as excellent flash cards to test your comprehension of the material. Use your highlighted text and highlighted class notes as guides to what should be included. Your outline may be a traditional outline, or it may be a paper chart taped to your wall. The format is not important. The very act of preparing an outline or flash cards will serve as a thorough review of the material.
- **Prepare a review sheet.** Based on your outline or flash cards, prepare a one-page review sheet that covers the major topics in the class. Mark the areas that need additional study so you can devote extra time to these.
- Review the material. Keep reviewing and rereading the outlines, flash cards, and review sheet. Some experts suggest reviewing these materials three times each day for several days preceding the exam. Learning is accomplished through repetition, not through cramming. It is not possible to learn a semester's worth of material in one evening. Each time you start a study session, do a ten-minute review of the material you studied in your previous session. If lists need to be memorized, use mnemonic devices. For example, to remember the elements of adverse possession,

TIPS

Use a master calendar for each semester and enter due dates for exams, projects, and other class-related work. Use different-colored pens for different classes so you can see at a glance when the "crunches" will occur during the semester. Keep your calendar handy and continually update it. Use it to plan and chart your progress on projects that you have chunked or broken into parts.

While commercial calendars or desktop calendars are fine, there are also a number of calendars you can access on the Internet and print for free. See the site www.timeanddate.com for monthly and customizable calendars.

a real property concept, one student developed the phrase "on a peach," which represented the required elements that possession of land be <u>open</u>, <u>notorious</u>, <u>adverse</u>, <u>public</u>, <u>exclusive</u>, <u>adverse</u> (again), <u>continuous</u>, and <u>hostile</u>.

■ **Take advantage of resources.** Your program may offer a learning center, study skills workshops, computer labs, and other resources to help you achieve your goals as a student. Similarly, your instructors want you to succeed. Ask for help. Take advantage of any resources your program or school offers. Go online and enter "Study Skills" into a general search engine, such as Google (www.google .com). You will be directed to numerous sites, many of which are provided by colleges, to help with taking notes, studying, and preparing for exams.

3. Taking the Examination

Although you have probably heard this advice numerous times, remember to get a good night's sleep and have some food before any examination. Think of the way athletes prepare and train for events. You are in training too. Pay attention to the details. Leave plenty of time so you don't arrive at the exam late or stressed. Moreover, you will want to get a good seat with a view of the clock and away from any distractions, such as students who are fidgety or have distracting coughs. Make sure you have any needed materials, including pens, pencils, correction tape to eliminate messy cross-outs, exam bluebooks, and so forth.

While many experts suggest that the last hour or so before an exam should be spent relaxing, most students find this advice difficult to follow and prefer to review their notes or flash cards until the minute the examination is distributed. You may, however, wish to avoid discussing the test with other students because this may increase your level of anxiety.

Follow these tips to maximize your performance on the test:

■ Skim the entire test as soon as it is given to you. Get an idea as to its length and structure. Make sure you have all of the pages and determine whether the exam questions are on both sides of the pages.

- Read the instructions twice. If the instructor has requested that answers be in complete sentences, write complete sentences. Students are often in such a panic at the beginning of an exam that they do not fully read the instructions or the questions. They are "racehorses" at the gate and seem to think that if they don't immediately start answering questions, their knowledge will drift away. Students would be surprised to learn how many times they lose points by failing to follow instructions, to answer the particular question asked, or to respond to all parts of a multi-part question.
- Pay attention to the words used in questions. Watch for modifying words such as *exclusively* or *solely*. These are often tips that help you formulate answers. Read questions all the way through before starting your answer. Then reread the question, perhaps highlighting or underscoring critical components. If you are asked to identify three elements, make sure your answer includes three components.
- For true-false questions:
 - □ Watch for words such as *all, always, never*, and *only*. These words are often signals that suggest the appropriate answer.
 - ☐ If the statement is only partly correct, mark it "false."
 - ☐ If the statement has two clauses connected with the word *and*, both clauses must be true for the statement to be true.
 - ☐ If the statement has two clauses connected with the word *or*, only one clause needs to be true for the statement to be true.
 - ☐ Do not write explanatory language to support your true-false answer. You may explain yourself out of a point. If a question is confusing, ask for clarification from the instructor or proctor.
- For multiple-choice questions:
 - ☐ Read all choices before responding.
 - ☐ Eliminate the clearly incorrect choices.
 - ☐ If two answers seem appropriate, select the better choice or the more specific one.
- For essay questions:
 - ☐ Focus on the "call" of the question—namely, what you are asked to address. This is the most important part of the question. For example, if a question asks about assignments of leases, you need not discuss other real property concepts, such as easements or evictions. Do not include information that does not directly respond to the question.
 - ☐ Focus on the wording of the instructions. If a question asks you to "define," or "summarize," there is no need to write a detailed answer. Conversely, if you are asked to "discuss" or "analyze," you must provide a more thorough explanation.
 - ☐ Highlight or underscore important terms or concepts in the question.
 - □ Jot down a brief outline on the back of the exam and plan your answer. This is not a waste of time. It will help you develop a logical answer and eliminate the true exam time-wasters: erasing incorrect answers and including irrelevant information. Moreover, at a glance your outline will reveal whether your answer is balanced so that you don't spend too much effort on one section and too little effort on another.
 - List your mnemonic devices on the back of the page.
 - ☐ If the question has several parts, number each one (1, 2, 3, and so forth) and make sure your answer responds to each component part. Consider numbering your response as well.

- ☐ Use standard paragraphing style. Start with an introduction or thesis statement, explain your answer, and end with a summary. Write in complete sentences.
- Consider answering questions you know or easier questions first. This will build confidence and help you get into the swing of the exam. Moreover, you don't want to miss points on things you know.
- Mark troublesome questions in pencil with an "X" or "?" in the margin to remind you to return to these questions. When you have finished these questions, erase your marks.
- Be a savvy test taker. Spend more time on questions that are weighted more heavily. A question that is worth ten points must be answered in more detail than one that is worth three points.
- Watch the clock. Some teachers recommend that students scan a test as soon as they receive it and mark its halfway point. The student should reach this part of the test halfway through the exam period.
- If you get stuck on a question or draw a blank, move to another section of the test and return to the troublesome question later. Don't waste valuable time staring at the test, waiting for the answer to come. Another question later in the test may suggest an approach or jog your memory.
- Write legibly.
- Take a chance. If you don't know something, go ahead and guess (unless there is a point penalty for incorrect answers). Fill in all blanks. You may get partial credit.
- Check to make sure your name is on the exam (and consider placing your initials on each page).
- Give the exam one more run-through before you turn it in to be sure that you have answered each and every question.

4. After the Examination

You may find that you need to decompress after an exam. Congratulate yourself for finishing the exam. Reward yourself.

Consider whether you will benefit by discussing the exam in detail with other students. Many students find that hearing remarks such as "You saw the promissory estoppel issue in question four, didn't you?" increases anxiety.

When the examination is returned to you, quickly review the math to make sure the point calculations are accurate. Your instructor grades many papers, and it is possible that an error in calculating the points has occurred.

If the instructor reviews answers in class, take notes and consider the instructor's comments. View the exam as a learning experience. If you have questions about the test, approach your instructor but do so respectfully, showing that you care about the answer and the reasoning, not just about the points. If the instructor does not return tests, see if you can arrange to review the exam in your program office.

5. Managing Test Anxiety

It is perfectly normal to have some anxiety about a test. In fact, a little bit of anxiety may motivate you and sharpen your focus. Too much anxiety, however, might cause you to blank out on information or become physically ill. The best way to

reduce anxiety is to prepare thoroughly for the exam such that you have confidence in your understanding of the material. If you are sufficiently prepared, you will likely recall the material even if you have some test anxiety. In many cases, anxiety is caused because students know they haven't prepared enough or have procrastinated. If this is the case, you can eliminate anxiety by solving its cause. Begin preparing for exams early.

One student reported to me that she and her roommate scheduled "worry time" each day. They allowed themselves 20 minutes every day to complain, panic, worry, and vent about their classes and their workload. Once the 20 minutes were over, they moved on and continued their work. The students conscientiously avoided any negative thoughts or worrying outside of the allocated schedule. When negative thoughts intruded, they shoved them aside and told themselves, "That's for worry time." Negative self-talk is counterproductive. If you find yourself thinking, "I'm going to fail this exam," take a break in order to stop catastrophizing.

Don't think of the exam as a test of your character. It's just an exam. You've had others before and you will have more in the future. Remember that you have had many successes in the past. Complete your answer to this statement: "The worst thing that will happen to me if I do not do well in this class is ______." You can readily see that the test is not a matter of life or death. It is, however, an opportunity to show your instructor that you know the material and the core class concepts.

Don't compare yourself to others or measure your worth by how others are doing. Try to determine which students and situations create anxiety for you and avoid them. Remember that there will always be a student who finishes the test far in advance of the others. Finishing early does not necessarily correlate to superior performance.

Don't forget that being in good physical condition can reduce many of the symptoms of anxiety. Eat right. Exercise. If caffeine makes you jumpy, avoid it on exam day. Eat something so that you aren't light-headed.

During the exam, if you find yourself drawing a blank, do the following:

- Move on to an easier question. Build confidence by taking small steps. Once you respond to a few questions, you will discover your own rhythm and will realize you know more than you think you do. In addition, as noted earlier, a later question may provide you with an idea for answering an earlier question.
- Focus on one question at a time. Don't think ahead to the fact that an upcoming question is difficult. Put all your efforts into the question you are currently answering.
- Underscore key words. When you are faced with a difficult question or you draw a blank, underscore the key words in the question. See if these give you a hint on how to structure your answer or jog your memory.
- Try relaxation techniques. Take a minute or two to close your eyes and take a few deep breaths. Clear your mind. Take a three-minute mental vacation.
- **Do something.** Write something. Write anything. You can always erase it later. Move to the front of the room if seeing other students writing furiously panics you.

Finally, remember why you are taking the class. You are there to learn. Although everyone wants to get good grades, the advantage of being an adult learner is understanding that good grades are not necessarily a predictor of future success. Keep your eyes on the prize: comprehension of the material.

6. Class Projects

Nearly all of the preceding discussion about study skills and examinations applies to class projects. Carefully review the instructions for any project assigned in class. Follow the instructions to the letter. Do not lose the easy points by single-spacing when the instructions state the project must be double-spaced. Review your syllabus and mark on your master calendar the due date for any project. Set up a timetable, working backwards from the due date. Once again, chunk your project into manageable and realistic tasks. For example, mark the dates that you will allocate to research, your first draft, second draft, cite-checking, and so forth. Allow at least one extra day for emergencies, such as illness or equipment malfunctions, that might cause delays in your timetable. Don't be hesitant to check with your instructor to make sure you're on the right track. If you are working with a group, consider the suggestions given above relating to study groups.

NET RESULTS

www.uni.edu/walsh/linda7.html

This site, provided by the University of Northern Iowa, provides links to more than 30 sites offering information relating to study skills, achieving academic success, taking examinations, and other school-related topics.

www.ucc.vt.edu/academic_support/ study_skills_information.html

http://lsc.cornell.edu/notes.html

Virginia Tech's site offers a variety of articles relating to study skills.

The Cornell Note-Taking System is fully explained at this site maintained by Cornell University.

www.timeanddate.com

Free monthly and customizable calendars are provided for planning projects and calendaring due dates.

https://freeology.com/graphicorgs/cornell-notes-template

This site provides templates for you to use in Cornell Note-Taking format.

www.lawschoolplaybook.com/about

The Law School Playbook is a series of short podcasts about achieving success in law school, with tips and strategies for reading cases, time managements tips, and more. Chapter Summary 21

CASE ILLUSTRATION

Attorney Responsibility for Paralegal Work

Case: Henderson v. Pacific Gas & Electric Co., 113 Cal. Rptr. 3d 692

(Ct. App. 2010)

Facts: Plaintiff Henderson sued her former employer, Pacific Gas &

Electric Co. (PG&E). PG&E moved for summary judgment, and plaintiff's attorney was informed that opposition to the motion was due on September 8, 2008. The attorney had entrusted preparation of the opposition to his paralegal who began to prepare the opposition but took the file with her on vacation and planned to file the document from out of state. The opposition was not timely filed. Summary judgment was ordered against the plaintiff, who then moved to vacate the judgment. The court denied the motion, and the plaintiff then requested that the judgment be set aside due to her

attorney's excusable neglect.

Holding: Affirmed. The responsibility for preparing the opposition was

ultimately that of the attorney. A reasonably prudent person would not have expected a paralegal, even a trusted one, to prepare an opposition to a motion on her own, and then, upon learning that the opposition would not be available for review before filing with the court, simply wait to see if in fact the opposition was filed. It was the attorney's negligence in failing to supervise the paralegal and to request relief sooner that led to the late-filed opposition. Such

actions were inexcusable neglect.

KEY TERMS

SQ3R method Act Cornell Note-Taking System Stud

Active listening Study group

CHAPTER SUMMARY

Student Success and Reading the Material Success as a student requires that you do the work assigned, come to class prepared, and persistently work to master the material.

Consider using the SQ3R method of reading to enhance remembering: Survey the material, question the concepts, read the material, recite key points aloud, and review the material. Other techniques that will aid comprehension are marking

your text and taking notes on the reading material.

Note Taking	The Cornell Note-Taking System is a well-known method for recording class information. Use paper divided into two columns, a narrow left column and a wide right column. When taking notes, record main concepts and ideas in the right column, reduce main concepts and place key words in the left column, recite the information, reflect on it, review it, and then recapitulate it in a summary at the bottom of the page.
Networking	Network with other students to have a backup if you miss classes or are sick. Join a study group to help you master class material.
Success on Examinations	To succeed on examinations, get as much information about the exam as possible, study old exams, prepare outlines and flash cards, review your notes, and prepare study review sheets. When you take examinations, skim the entire exam first and read instructions completely. Understand the different techniques that can be used in objective tests and essay exams to ensure your answers respond to the questions asked. Complete all answers and manage both your time and your stress level.

TRIVIA

- Taking verbatim notes is impossible because most individuals speak at a rate of 125-140 words per minute while the average note taker is able to write only about 25 words per minute. Thus, be selective when taking notes.
- Studies have demonstrated that unless a student reviews class notes within 24 hours or before the next class, retention drops (perhaps by as much as 80 percent), and the student will be re-learning the material rather than reviewing it.
- Most people read at the rate of 200-250 words per minute.
- Neatness counts. Research shows that when the same paper is written neatly and messily, on average, a grader will give the neat paper a letter grade higher than the messy paper.
- Most individuals speak up to 75 percent faster than they can type.

DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

1. Lindsey is concerned that if she does not transcribe each and every word her instructor states, she will not be prepared for any tests in the class. Discuss whether there are any disadvantages to Lindsey in attempting to transcribe her instructor's lecture.

Closing Arguments 23

2. Josh is taking an exam and is stumped by Question 10. He has begun doodling on the back of his paper, hoping the answer will come to him. What is a better approach for Josh to take instead of waiting to recall the right answer?

3. Blake, one of your study group members, has been assigned to prepare notes for your Contracts class but she has not been performing this task. What should the group do?

CLOSING ARGUMENTS

- 1. Access Virginia Tech's Study Skills Information Page. Select "Time Schedule Strategies" and then "Scheduled Studying." For each hour in a classroom, how much studying should a student do?
- 2. Access Dickinson College's Note-Taking resources and locate the Top Ten Note-Taking Tips. What is the first tip you are given?
- 3. Review Cornell University's information on its Cornell Note-Taking System. When you take the fifth step in the system, reviewing, how much time should you spend?
- 4. Access Cornell University's information on study groups at http://lsc.cornell.edu/notes.html. Why might it be a good idea to study with people who are not necessarily your close friends?

CHAPTER 2

HE AMERICAN BAR ASSOCIATION . . . HAS
PROMOTED THE ROLE OF THE PARALEGAL AS A VITAL
MEMBER OF THE LEGAL SERVICES DELIVERY TEAM FOR OVER
FORTY YEARS.

—American Bar Association Guidelines for the Approval of Paralegal Education Programs (Foreword)

CHAPTER OVERVIEW

To be an effective paralegal, you need to know about your profession. This chapter provides an overview of the "nuts and bolts" of the paralegal profession. The chapter begins by discussing the various definitions of the term *paralegal* and reviewing the history of the profession. The various types of paralegal education programs will be examined as well as the role of the American Bar Association in approving paralegal education programs. You will be introduced to the various paralegal associations that serve as advocates for paralegals and the profession. The chapter will then discuss the most critical issues facing the profession: regulation, licensing, and certification of paralegals. The chapter will conclude by discussing what paralegals do, where they are typically employed, their compensation and benefits, and the future of this dynamic and vital profession.

A. DEFINITIONS AND TITLES

When an individual is introduced as a doctor or a lawyer, the listener immediately knows something about the individual. For example, a listener would know that a lawyer is someone who graduated from college, attended law school, took certain required courses in law school, passed a bar examination, and is licensed to practice law in the state where the lawyer works. When an individual is introduced as a paralegal, however, the listener may not immediately understand the background and training of the individual. A person may become a paralegal by taking courses at a variety of different types of educational institutions, by on-the-job training in a law office or other legal environment, or by some other method of gaining experience in the profession. Through education, the paralegal may have received a certificate, an associate's degree, or a bachelor's degree, or even a master's degree in paralegal studies. Many of these educational programs are approved by the **American Bar Association** (ABA), which is a voluntary association of attorneys.

Alternatively, a paralegal may have gained valuable experience while working closely with attorneys in a law firm. At present, there are no formal national legal requirements that must be satisfied before a person can be called a paralegal (although, as discussed later in this chapter, California requires individuals who hold themselves out as paralegals to meet certain standards). Similarly, there are no uniform standards followed by attorneys who hire paralegals. Some hire graduates of paralegal programs, some hire recent college graduates, some promote and train from within, and others merely gratuitously bestow the title of paralegal on various employees, whether experienced or not.

Just as there are a variety of ways by which one may become a paralegal, there are several ways of identifying those in the profession. The ABA typically prefers the term **paralegal** (until late 2003, it used the term **legal assistant** nearly exclusively) and provides the following definition:

A paralegal is a person, qualified by education, training or work experience who is employed or retained by a lawyer, law office, corporation, governmental agency or other entity who performs specifically delegated substantive legal work for which a lawyer is responsible. (Adopted by the ABA in 2020.)

The ABA has stated that the terms *legal assistant* and *paralegal* are, in practice, used interchangeably, typically depending on geographical location. The Greek prefix *para* literally means *beside*, *almost*, or *resembling*. Thus, the very term *paralegal* suggests an individual working closely with and assisting an attorney.

The National Association of Legal Assistants, Inc. (NALA, which identifies itself as "NALA: The Paralegal Association"), one of the two major paralegal associations, adopted the ABA definition of *paralegal* in order to promote uniformity in the profession (previously, NALA had its own definition of *legal assistant*).

While the ABA definition of *paralegal* is one of the most widely used, other definitions exist as well. Probably the other most prominent definition is that used by the other major paralegal association, the National Federation of Paralegal Associations (NFPA). NFPA also prefers the term *paralegal* to *legal assistant*, and its definition is slightly different from that of the ABA, as shown in Figure 2-1.

American Bar Association

A voluntary professional association for attorneys

Paralegal

Generally defined as a person qualified by experience or education to perform substantive legal work and who is usually employed by an attorney or law firm; often synonymous with *legal assistant*